Percutaneous absorption of aromatic amines and the risk assessment resulting from the dermal pathway

Gintautas Korinth¹, Karl Heinz Schaller¹, Hans Drexler¹

¹Institute and Out-Patient Clinic of Occupational, Social and Environmental Medicine, University Erlangen-Nuremberg, Schillerstrasse 25/29, 91054 Erlangen, Germany

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. Skin barrier against chemicals
- 4. Methods for the investigation of percutaneous absorption
- 5. Percutaneous absorption of aromatic amines
 - 5.1. Quantification of percutaneous absorption
 - 5.2. Influence of physicochemical properties of aromatic amines on percutaneous absorption
 - 5.3. Influence of dose and vehicle on percutaneous absorption
 - 5.4. Dermal metabolism of aromatic amines
 - 5.5. Percutaneous absorption and dermal metabolism of azo dyes
 - 5.6. Influence of personal protective equipment on percutaneous absorption
- 6. Risk assessment from percutaneous absorption
- 7. Summary and perspective
- 8. References

1. ABSTRACT

Aromatic amines (AA) are compounds of different carcinogenic potency causing occupational bladder cancer. The percutaneous absorption of AA is mostly appraised to be high. Many AA are, therefore, assigned with skin notations. However, for the assessment of the dermal exposure route only little data are available. Additionally, in many studies the skin penetration data for AA are provided as absorbed percentage of applied dose or permeability coefficients, which are less useful in risk assessment. In this overview, the toxicological relevance of percutaneous absorption of AA was evaluated and a percutaneous penetration ranking for some AA is proposed. A continuous skin exposure of hands to AA for a few minutes can exceed the inhalative exposure over 8 hours at occupational threshold limit values in the workplace air. The health risk resulting from the percutaneous absorption of AA can be considerable. Also the dermal exposure to azo dyes, which can be metabolized to AA, should be considered with caution.

2. INTRODUCTION

Aromatic amines (AA) are used in the production of dyes, pharmaceuticals, pesticides, and rubber. They also occur as intermediates. AA are of special interest in occupational medical health surveillance, due to their carcinogenic effects (1). The percutaneous absorption of some chemicals, e.g. the glycol ether 2-butoxyethanol or the lactam N-methyl-2-pyrrolidone, may exceed the uptake by inhalation (2, 3). For further glycol ethers and some alcohols, high percutaneous penetration rates (fluxes) have also been determined (4), indicating that the dermal pathway could be equal or even more important as the uptake by inhalation. The occupational uptake of AA predominantly results from dermal exposure and inhalation. The main exposure route differs among AA and relates especially to physicochemical properties of the compounds (5). In databases for occupational hygienists (6-8), the percutaneous absorption of AA is often appraised as generally good. It was shown that the percutaneous absorption of some AA can lead to a significant

contribution to the overall uptake (9, 10). However, only little data for AA is available.

The exposure to AA in workplaces is mostly controlled by ambient air monitoring. The percutaneously absorbed amount of chemicals in workers can only be assessed by the monitoring of the concentration in blood or urine. However, the determination of percutaneously absorbed amount is difficult due to the metabolism of the compounds as well as unknown and different individual factors. Such factors are especially the skin status and the use and efficacy of protective measures.

The risk of chemicals resulting from inhalation may be estimated by comparing the concentrations in the air with occupational threshold limit values derived by, e.g. the US ACGIH (American Conference of Governmental Industrial Hygienists) (11), the German DFG (Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft) (12), the Scientific Committee on Occupational Exposure Limit Values (SCOEL) (13), the Nordic Expert Group for Criteria Documentation of Health Risks from Chemicals (NEG) (14), or the Dutch Expert Committee on Occupational Safety (DECOS) (15). However, for genotoxic AA the risk estimation is sophisticated, since for such compounds occupational threshold limit values can not be derived (12) as, theoretically, one molecule is capable of causing cancer. This overview focuses especially on data in human skin, since animal data may show significant differences in percutaneous absorption as well as dermal metabolism of AA (16) and azo dyes being metabolized to AA (17).

3. SKIN BARRIER AGAINST CHEMICALS

Skin barrier against percutaneous absorption of exogenous substances is located mainly in the only ~20 μm thick stratum corneum. The structure of stratum corneum is like a "brick-and-mortar" model (18), where the hydrophilic corneocytes (bricks) are embedded into a lipid bilayer matrix (mortar). The resorption of exogenous substances occurs firstly in the capillary blood vessels located in the papillary layer beneath the epidermis in a distance of ~200 µm from skin surface. There are two routes for chemicals across the stratum corneum, the transcellular through the corneocytes and the intercellular through the lipid matrix (19). The intercellular route seems to be quantitatively more relevant than the transcellular route. De Jager et al. (20) showed that after extraction of intercellular skin lipids the percutaneous penetration of paminobenzoic acid and its derivatives in diffusion cell experiments increased significantly.

4. METHODS FOR THE ASSESSMENT OF PERCUTANEOUS ABSORPTION

The most important methods for the investigation of percutaneous absorption of chemicals are presented in Table 1. Percutaneous absorption of AA in workers can roughly be estimated from the blood concentration or more reliably from urinary excretion and the level of haemoglobin (Hb) adducts. A prerequisite for the interpretation of such data is a detailed knowledge of the

metabolism and the excretion kinetics of the compounds. Whereas the urinary concentrations of AA reflect the current exposure, the Hb adducts assess the cumulative exposure of about 4 months according to the lifetime of the erythrocytes. Due to the low vapor pressures of AA (Table 2), biological monitoring is the most reliable method for the assessment of dermal uptake in workers.

Drexler *et al.* (21) described the estimation of percutaneous absorption from urinary excretion of chemicals considering their air concentration in the workplace

$$RIE = \frac{Chemical\ concentration\ in\ urine\ (\mu g/l)}{Chemical\ concentration\ in\ the\ air\ (\mu g/m^3)}$$

This ratio (RIE, relative internal exposure) increases with an increase in percutaneous absorption of a compound, allowing a standardization of the internal exposure. It means that all workers in a group would be exposed to the same air concentration of a chemical. RIE can compare the relationship between internal and external exposure of AA between individuals and estimate the part of percutaneous absorption contributing to the overall uptake.

Jakasa *et al.* (2) showed in volunteer studies using various concentrations of 2-butoxyethanol that the percutaneous absorption can be quantified from blood and urinary concentrations by comparison with inhalation data. Similar methodology was applied by the working group of Bader *et al.* (3). However, this method cannot be applied in humans for carcinogenic AA, where animal studies can be performed for the determination of fluxes with similar technique (22).

The most percutaneous absorption data of chemicals is obtained in diffusion cell experiments. There exist guidelines (23) and detailed consensus protocols (24) for such studies. Human *in vivo* and diffusion cell studies cannot be performed applying the same experimental conditions, although comparison studies between both methods are possible (25-29). These studies show, however, in part controversial results, i.e. an over- or underestimation of dermal penetration.

Microdialysis is a comparably new method to investigate the percutaneous absorption of chemicals showing some important advantages as well as drawbacks (Table 1) (30, 31).

5. PERCUTANEOUS ABSORPTION OF AROMATIC AMINES

5.1. Quantification of percutaneous absorption

The percutaneous absorption data for AA are often presented as absorbed percentage of exposed dose (16, 32). Such data are, however, less useful for practical approaches in occupational medicine, since for lipophilic compounds in most cases the higher the applied dose of a chemical, the lower the absorbed percentage. Therefore, an extrapolation of the data from this parameter is difficult

Table 1. Methods for the assessment of percutaneous

absorption of aromatic amines

	absorption of aromatic amines						
Method	Advantages	Problems	Refere nces				
Biological monitoring							
In workers	Real exposure situations	• Quantification of percutaneous absorption of chemicals is difficult	(21, 58, 69)				
In human volunteers	 Real exposure situations can be closely imitated 	 The methodologic al expenditure is high 	(2, 3)				
In animals	Studies on a living organism	 Transferability of the data to human beings is questionable 	(22)				
Diffusion cell studies	Human skin can be used Toxic and carcinogenic chemicals can be investigated	Skin blood circulation is not imitated	(24, 40)				
Microdialysis	The technique is applicable in humans, animals or ex vivo skin Applicable in workers at workplace Pharmacokinetics can be studied Dermal metabolism can be investigated	The methodologic al expenditure is high The technique must be calibrated Flux determination is difficult The percutaneous penetration of slowly permeable compounds can be significantly underestimate d	(30, 31)				

without a significant deviation from the real percutaneous absorption situation. For example, considering percutaneous penetration data from our laboratory (5) highly diluted aniline ($c\sim0.003\%$) penetrated from an aqueous vehicle into the receptor fluid of diffusion cells to ~38% of applied dose. Applying an infinite dose of neat aniline only ~0.5% of the compound penetrated into the receptor fluid. However, considering the total penetrated amounts instead of the calculated percentage of absorption there were significant differences between the highly diluted ($c\sim0.003\%$) and undiluted aniline (~6 vs. 2300 μg/cm² skin surface/24 h, respectively). The results suggest that the use of the parameter "absorbed percentage from applied dose" leads often to a significant underestimation of percutaneous absorption of a compound.

Another problem to quantify the percutaneous absorption of a chemical is when the data are provided as permeability coefficients (Kp). Kp values are still often presented in literature, since this parameter is considered to be independent from the concentration (33) or normalizable for any concentration of chemicals (34). As a consequence of this assumption the Kp is regarded to be constant for each chemical for the same vehicle. Considering a wide

range of aqueous 2-butoxyethanol solutions, we showed that a prediction of fluxes from Kp values in literature is not possible for each concentration of the compound (35).

To quantify the percutaneous penetration of chemicals for the decision on skin notation the preferably used parameter is the flux, e.g. evaluated by the Ad hoc working group "percutaneous absorption" of the German Commission for the Investigation of Health Hazards of Chemical Compounds in the Work Area (4). The flux is defined as an amount of a chemical penetrated through a defined skin area and amount of time (unit: µg cm⁻² h̄⁻¹). This parameter allows estimating quantitatively the percutaneous penetration of chemicals, when the exposed skin surface area (both hands: ~1000 cm²; hands and forearms: ~2000 cm²) and exposure duration are known. However, also the flux allows only an approximation of percutaneous absorption, since reliable fluxes can only be determined for certain exposure situations and the transferability of the data to other exposure conditions shows uncertainties.

5.2. Influence of physicochemical properties of aromatic amines on percutaneous absorption

Physicochemical properties of chemicals are often considered for a rough estimation of percutaneous absorption. Molecular weights and especially octanol-water partition coefficients (log P) of chemicals are accepted as main determinants of percutaneous penetration (36, 37). Considering the chemical structure and physicochemical properties, AA is a very heterogeneous group (Table 2). There are small (e.g. aniline, o-toluidine) and large (e.g. Nphenyl-2-naphthylamine (PBNA), 4,4'-methylene-bis(2chloroaniline) (MOCA)) molecules, liquid (aniline, otoluidine) as well as solid (e.g. benzidine, 2-naphthylamine) compounds. The smaller a molecule, the easier it usually penetrates through the skin. However, a molecular weight threshold for an optimum penetration of AA has not been evaluated. The log P values of AA are mostly higher than 0.8. indicating that a compound in an aqueous vehicle will penetrate to a lipophilic compartment, such as the lipid matrix of stratum corneum, instead to remain in the vehicle. An optimal range of log P determining the percutaneous absorption of AA is not evaluated. Stratum corneum contains a high percentage of lipid molecules, such as ceramides, free fatty acids and cholesterol (38). This could be the main reason that the most lipophilic AAs penetrate well through the skin, despite significant differences in chemical structure and a wide range in physicochemical properties (5). Furthermore, liquid AA tend to show higher fluxes than solid compounds (Tables 2-3).

AA are lipophilic compounds with a wide range in water solubilities (Table 2). The importance of water solubility of AA for the rate being percutaneously absorbed is less investigated. However, for aniline and o-toluidine the highest percutaneous penetration in terms of the percentage of applied dose was determined when the compounds were applied in aqueous solutions in the range of water solubilities (5). For o-toluidine, the difference was at a factor of ~100 compared to the undiluted application; for aniline, at a factor of ~10, when adjusting linearly for

Table 2. Physicochemical properties of some aromatic amines

Compound (CAS no.)	Chemical structure	Molecular weight (g/mol)	Water solubility (g/l)	Log P	Boiling point (°C)	Melting point (°C) (physical form ¹)
Aniline (62-53-3)	NH ₂	93.13	36	0.90	184	-6 (liquid)
o-Toluidine (95-53-4)	CH ₃	107.16	16	1.32	200	-16 (liquid)
p-Chloroaniline (106-47-8)	CI—NH ₂	127.57	3.9	1.83	232	73 (solid)
2-Naphthylamine (91-59-8)	NH ₂	143.19	0.189	2.28	300	113 (solid)
Benzidine (92-87-5)	H_2N N N N N	184.24	0.322	1.34	401	120 (solid)
4,4'-Methylenedianiline (MDA) (101-77-9)	$H_2N - \hspace{-0.5cm} \begin{array}{c} \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \end{array} \hspace{-0.5cm} - \hspace{-0.5cm} \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\$	198.27	1	1.59	398	93 (solid)
N-Phenyl-2-naphthylamine (PBNA) (135-88-6)		219.29	0.006	4.38	396	108 (solid)
4,4'-Methylene-bis(2-chloroaniline) (MOCA) (101-14-4)	$\begin{array}{c c} H_2N & C & NH_2 \\ \hline \\ CI & CI \\ \end{array}$	267.16	0.014	3.91	379	110 (solid)

At room temperature

the applied concentration. Moreover, considering the percutaneous penetration of aniline there is a linear relationship between the dermal fluxes and the concentration of the compound in aqueous vehicle nearly to saturation (5). A similar relationship applies also to ottoluidine.

5.3. Influence of dose and vehicle on percutaneous absorption

Percutaneous absorption data for AA have been obtained using different doses and various vehicles, such as aqueous solutions (5), acetone (32), ethanol (39), workplace specific lubricant (40) or other. This makes a direct comparison of the data difficult. There is no evidence that experimentally determined fluxes, obtained using a certain vehicle, can be transferred without restrictions to other vehicles. It means that percutaneous absorption data have to be specifically generated for various occupationally relevant concentrations and exposure situations. Our experimental data for aniline in aqueous vehicle (5) indicate that a linear extrapolation of the flux up to the water solubility limit of the compound is possible. The same relationship was also demonstrated for the structurally similar solvents toluene and styrene in humans (41).

In our study applying o-toluidine in a siliconefree polymer lubricant, a slight percutaneous penetration enhancement of the AA was found (40). Baynes *et al.* (32) report in a diffusion cell study using pig skin that there is a penetration enhancement of benzidine applied in chemical mixtures containing solvents (acetone, dimethyl sulfoxide) and surfactants (methyl nicotinate, sodium lauryl sulfate). However, the data of the latter study are difficult to interpret, since no control experiments were conducted. Incorporation of nanoparticles into the vehicle led to an increase of the percutaneous penetration of chemicals. Küchler *et al.* (42, 43) reported that the azo dyes "Rhodamin B" and "Nile Red" penetrated in diffusion cell experiments faster through the skin from nanoparticle cream than from conventional cream formulations.

5.4. Dermal metabolism of aromatic amines

The general principle of the dermal metabolism of AA should mainly base on the cytochrome P-450 (abbr. CYP) enzyme family. An important phase I reaction of AA is the oxidation. It will be triggered by the enzyme CYP1A2, which is also expressed in human keratinocytes (44, 45). Other enzymes of the CYP1A family were also detected in the skin (46) indicating enzyme overlapping in the activation of AA. It is assumed that the phenolic metabolites represent quantitatively the main group, which will be further acetylated and conjugated in the phase II reactions. Collier *et al.* (17) assumed that aniline was metabolized in excised human skin probably by acetylation.

Table 3. Toxicological relevance of percutaneous penetration for some aromatic amines

Compound	Skin notation ¹	Flux ² (μg cm ⁻² h ⁻¹)	TLV-TWA level	Skin exposure time up to TLV-TWA level
Aniline	H; Skin	218 (c~3%)	7.7 (2 ppm)	21
o-Toluidine	H; Skin	117 (c~100%)	8.9 (2 ppm)	46
4,4'-Methylenedianiline	H; Skin	34 (c~0.5%)	0.8 (0.1 ppm)	14
4,4'-Methylene-bis(2-chloroaniline) (MOCA)	H; Skin	~4 times lower than MDA flux	0.1 (0.01 ppm)	7

^T German DFG (12) and US ACGIH (11), ² Fluxes and concentrations (c) were obtained or estimated from the data of Wellner *et al.* (5) and Hotchkiss *et al.* (16), ³ TLV-TWA: occupational air threshold limit value (mg/m³) - time weighted average exposure on the basis of a 8h/day, 40h/week work schedule (11), ⁴ Values were calculated for 1000 cm² skin surface (both hands). The inhalative uptake of aromatic amines at the TLV-TWA level was calculated for 10 m³ air, which corresponds to the inhalation volume for 8 hours.

$$R1-N \neq N$$
 $N+N-R2$ H_2N NH_2

Benzidine-based azo dye

Figure 1. Reduction of a benzidine-based azo dye to benzidine.

However, there is a lack of data on the activity and the capacity of such enzymes in the skin compared to the liver.

Recently, a significant capacity of dermal metabolism was shown for the monocyclic AA p-aminophenol in reconstructed epidermis (47). p-Aminophenol was completely metabolized within 24 hours, indicating that N-acetyltransferase (NAT1) mediated metabolism was a major route of AA detoxification following dermal exposure. This metabolic pathway for p-aminophenol was also described using human keratinocytes (48). The same detoxification route (NAT1) was also assumed for p-phenylenediamine in a volunteer study after dermal exposure (48). The authors concluded that the key enzyme in the detoxification of topically applied AA appeared to be the skin NAT1 rather than hepatic NAT2.

The enzyme activity in freshly excised skin can be maintained in diffusion cell experiments. A high rate of conjugation was observed for dinitrochlorobenzene (DNCB), an aromatic nitro compound (49). Whereas in low dose exposure (25 µl/cm² skin) the conjugated DNCB penetrated into receptor fluid ~2-fold faster than the unchanged DNCB; in experiments applying a 5-fold higher DNCB dose this ratio was lower (~1:4), but still significant. These findings indicate, however, a limited extent of glutathione-S-transferases in excised skin catalyzing this reaction. Aromatic amino and nitro compounds are structurally similar and both often present at workplaces. For other lipophilic compounds with similar physicochemical properties, such as the polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon benzo[a]pyrene, the dermal metabolism may reach a high double-digit range (50). Therefore, the dermal metabolism of AA should be taken into account as a possible modifier of percutaneous absorption to avoid a significant underestimation of the uptake.

5.5. Percutaneous absorption and dermal metabolism of azo dyes

Benzidine

Azo dyes are characterized by the presence of one or more azo groups (-N=N-). The interest of experts for occupational medicine and hygiene arises from epidemiological observations that occupational exposure to azo dyes can increase the incidence of bladder cancer (12, 51). Percutaneously absorbed azo dyes can be metabolized by intestinal bacteria or by azo reductases of the liver and extrahepatic tissue to corresponding AA, and in this way increase the internal exposure to AA. Figure 1 shows the principle of the reduction of azo dyes to benzidine as an example.

It is assumed that enzymes being expressed in the liver are also available in the skin and a dermal metabolism of azo dyes is expected. Therefore, all azo dyes, from which carcinogenic AA can be cleaved, are considered to have carcinogenic potential (12). Of particular toxicological interest are azo dyes from doubly diazotized benzidine and some benzidine derivatives. But also other carcinogenic AA, such as 2-naphthylamine, 4aminodiphenyl, 4-chloro-o-toluidine, and o-toluidine can be metabolized from the corresponding azo dves. There are only a few data available on percutaneous absorption of azo dyes, which could be metabolized to carcinogenic AA. Aldrich et al. (52) showed in animal experiments (rabbits and rats) the capability of benzidine-based azo dye "Direct Black 38" to penetrate through the skin. Collier et al. (17) found in diffusion cell studies with human skin that all 3 tested azo dyes ("Yellow No. 6", "Sudan I", and "Solvent Yellow 7") penetrated within 24 hours at ~5–40% of the applied dose.

AA may also be formed from azo dyes on skin surface by bacterial flora. Table 4 presents data on metabolism of azo dyes to AA by human skin enzymes and by skin surface bacteria. For example, bacterial reduction of the azo dye "Direct Blue 14" led to the formation of o-

Table 4. Metabolism of azo dyes by human skin enzymes or skin surface bacteria to aromatic amines

Azo dye	Metabolite	Causes for metabolism	% of dye metabolized	Reference
Sudan I	Aniline	Skin enzymes	29.5 ± 0.5	(17)
Solvent Yellow 7	Aniline	Skin enzymes	26.5 ± 1.9	(17)
Direct Blue 14	O-Toluidine	Skin surface bacteria	N.d. ¹	(53)
Disperse yellow 3	4-Aminoacetanilide 2-Amino-p-cresol	Skin surface bacteria	N.d. ¹	(54)

¹ N.d.: not determined

toluidine (53). A rise of the number of bacteria in the assay increased proportionately the cleavage of "Direct Blue 14". Most of the bacterial strains of normal human skin flora exhibit reductive activity and cleave "Direct Blue 14" in a synthetic sweat suspension (53). Many other AA, such as 4-aminoacetanilide, 2-amino-p-cresol (54), p-nitroaniline, 2,6-dichloro-4-nitroaniline and p-phenylenediamine (55), may exhibit cleavage-products of azo dyes.

The reductive cleavage potential of several skin surface bacteria may achieve 100% within less than 5 h of exposure as demonstrated on the azo dyes "Methyl Red" and "Orange II" (56). The higher molecular weight of azo dyes, the slower percutaneous absorption of the compounds could be expected. Additionally, it was demonstrated that sweat would enhance the percutaneous penetration of chemicals (57). Therefore, the presence of sweat on skin surface, e.g. by wearing of textiles and leather treated with azo dyes, could optimize the conditions for cleavage of azo dyes and increase the percutaneous absorption of formed AA.

5.6. Influence of personal protective equipment on percutaneous absorption

From the point of view of percutaneous absorption, gloves and skin creams are the most important personal protective measures influencing the internal exposure to AA. The wearing of personal protective equipment can, however, either reduce the percutaneous absorption of AA or increase it, depending on the efficacy of the measures.

Recently, we reported that skin barrier creams did not prevent workers in the German rubber industry from a relevant systemic uptake of aniline and o-toluidine, comparing the internal exposure with that in the general population (58). Considering the relative internal exposure (RIE; see chapter 4) in a multiple linear regression analysis it was evident that the use of skin barrier creams plays an important role of increasing the uptake of these AA. Subsequent diffusion cell experiments confirmed that the application of skin barrier creams enhanced the percutaneous penetration of aniline and o-toluidine significantly compared to untreated human skin (40). The enhancement was independent from the formulation (oil-inwater or water-in-oil emulsion) of skin creams.

On the other hand, the frequent wearing of gloves reduced significantly the internal exposure to aniline and otoluidine in workers in the rubber industry compared to workers, who used gloves less frequently (58). In a study applying a modified ASTM F739 method, which is considered to be a standard method for testing the

permeation of liquid chemicals through protective clothing materials under conditions of continuous contact, the breakthrough times of aniline among 5 glove materials ranged from only ~3 to 82 min (59). Only nitrile butyl rubber gloves showed satisfactory protection for 51-82 min, whereas the breakthrough time for polyvinyl chloride (PVC), natural latex rubber, polymerized alkene, and nitrile material ranged from only 3 min for nitrile to ~12 min for PVC. The nitrile butyl rubber glove material was, however, at least 2-times thicker than the other materials. Kenyon et al. (10) observed in diffusion cell experiments using latex or nitrile glove materials that up to 5% of 4,4'methylenedianiline (MDA) (applied dose: 0.1 mg) penetrated from an ethanol-water (50:50) vehicle within 5 h of exposure, but for nitrile gloves the penetration of MDA was much lower (0.1%). All these factors, and especially the lack of data, make the evaluation of the efficacy of personal protective measures to prevent the dermal uptake of AA and azo dyes difficult.

6. RISK ASSESSMENT FROM PERCUTANEOUS ABSORPTION

Evidence-based risk assessment is difficult for each chemical with toxic potential when adequate data are insufficient. For AA showing heterogeneous physicochemical properties, the performance of studies with the same concentrations and vehicles is difficult. The low vapor pressures and high boiling points of AA (Table 2) lead to low, often not detectable concentrations in the workplace air.

Human studies are considered to be the "gold standard" to generate percutaneous absorption data (19, 23). For carcinogenic AA, percutaneous absorption data can only be derived from animal and ex vivo studies. However, there may be large over- as well as underestimations of percutaneously absorbed amounts between the species, where the difference may reach even a factor of 100 (60). Whether animal data can be transferred without any restrictions to human beings has been less investigated. Therefore, in risk assessment studies evaluating the contribution of percutaneous absorption of toxic chemicals to overall uptake studies in human skin are preferred (23, 61). Data from diffusion cell experiments using excised human skin match closely to data obtained in humans (29) and are increasingly accepted for practical and regulatory purposes (61).

The most valuable and preferred parameter for the calculation of percutaneous absorption in risk assessment purposes of occupational exposure is the maximum flux, which could reduce significant underestimations of dermal absorption. Cumulative working life absorption of AA already in a low milligram range is considered to be capable of causing bladder cancer (62). To estimate the risk the percutaneously absorbed amount of AA should, therefore, be compared with the occupational threshold levels. When a linear dose-absorption relationship, as showed for aqueous aniline solutions (5), would also exist for other AA, this would simplify a semi-quantitative risk assessment. Kenyon *et al.* (10) described for MDA a linear dose-absorption relationship in a 50% (v/v) aqueous ethanol vehicle. It means that percutaneous penetration data can be extrapolated linearly to other concentrations. However, there are not enough data for AA for a general appliance of this observation.

The health risk resulting from occupational skin contact to chemicals can be assessed considering the skin notations ("H" in Germany, "skin" in USA), which are assigned when the percutaneous absorption significantly contributes to the overall uptake (63). However, there is no uniform skin notations assignment for chemicals in industrial countries (64). For example, in Germany 2-naphthylamine is assigned with "H" (12) since many years, whereas in the TLV and BEI list of ACGIH "skin" is still missing (11), although the carcinogenic potential and the percutaneous penetration of the compound is one of the highest among all AA (5).

In cases of insufficient data, the appliance of a reasonable worst-case exposure scenario is recommended for risk assessment (65). Considering the example of pesticides, 100% default absorption has been adopted as a conservative approach for the risk assessment in case of the absence of data (66). Similarly, for large compounds with high log P values, a default percutaneous absorption of 10% of the exposed dose could be discussed. In principle, default values between 10% and 100% can be made on a case-by-case expert judgment. When molecular weights, water solubilities and log P of AA are known, mathematical models based on these properties could be applied to predict the percutaneous penetration (12). However, the predictive potential of such models is weak (4). For example, for aniline, the difference between the experimentally determined and the by the model of Guy and Potts (67) predicted flux was at a factor of ~9. When mathematical models cannot be applied, e.g. due to insufficient data on physicochemical properties, an estimation of percutaneous absorption could be made on the basis of data for structurally analogous compounds (12). However, this approach can only be used for a rough estimation of percutaneous absorption of chemicals.

A ranking of percutaneous penetration among AA could also be useful for the risk assessment. Such an approach is possible for some AA considering the data for MDA in the studies of Wellner *et al.* (5) and Hotchkiss *et al.* (16). From the data of these studies an approximate percutaneous penetration ranking of diluted AA can be assumed: 2-naphthylamine > o-toluidine > aniline > MDA > MOCA > PBNA. Levillain *et al.* (68) determined in a diffusion cell study in rat skin a percutaneous penetration

ranking for other AA: p-chloroaniline > m-trifluoromethylaniline > dichloro-3,4-aniline > dichloro-3,5-aniline. Using the mathematical model of Guy and Potts (67), the flux ranking for these compounds is: p-chloroaniline > MDA > benzidine. Due to significant differences in experimental protocols, a ranking for all these AA is, however, difficult. Considering all these data the percutaneous penetration ranking of the 11 AA could be: 2-naphthylamine > o-toluidine > aniline > p-chloroaniline > MDA > MOCA > m-trifluoromethylaniline > dichloro-3,4-aniline > dichloro-3,5-aniline > benzidine > PBNA, where experimentally determined fluxes were weighted higher than mathematically predicted fluxes.

For the risk evaluation of the percutaneous absorption of AA in workers, the dermal uptake can be compared, e.g. with NOAEL (no observed adverse effect level), LOAEL (lowest observed adverse effect level), ADI (acceptable daily intake), TDI (tolerable daily intake) or IDLH (immediately dangerous to life and health) values. Already short-term dermal exposure to AA is of toxicological relevance. For example, for aniline, otoluidine, MDA or MOCA the dermal absorption may exceed the uptake by inhalation often within less than one hour of exposure (Table 3). 2-Naphthylamine and otoluidine show genotoxic potentials and, therefore, no doseeffect relationships can be derived for these AA. In a previous study (5), we compared the dermal uptake of aniline with the IDLH value (387 mg/m³). A continuous contact of the hands to a 3% aqueous aniline solution (flux: 218 µg cm⁻² h⁻¹) over 8 h could reach the uptake by inhalation (10 l air/min) at the IDLH value (~1744 vs. 1858 mg). In workers exposed to AA, biological monitoring is the method of choice for assessing the risk of dermal absorption (63).

In Germany, the Technical Rules for Hazardous Substances (TRGS) reflect the state of requirements in terms of safety, occupational health, hygiene, and work science relating to activities involving hazardous substances. The TRGS no. 614 deals with azo dyes. The dermal exposure should be estimated by the quantification of the amounts of exposed azo dyes and on skin surface formed AA. From the preventive point of view it is recommended that azo dyes should be dealt with as if they were classified in the same carcinogenic category as the corresponding AA (12).

7. SUMMARY AND PERSPECTIVE

The percutaneous absorption of AA contributes significantly to the overall internal exposure in workers. The dermal uptake of AA may exceed the uptake by inhalation often within less than one hour of exposure. We assume that AA being absorbed percutaneously are capable to cause systemic toxic effects in the same manner as by inhalative uptake.

For carcinogenic AA, an appliance of a reasonable worst-case exposure scenario can be recommended for workplaces to avoid a significant underestimation of internal exposure resulting from dermal

absorption. The maximum flux seems to be the most valuable parameter for the risk assessment. For this purpose, the percutaneously absorbed amount of AA can be compared with the maximum uptake at occupational threshold limit values in the air, e.g. the US TLV-TWA (threshold limit value - time weighted average) or the German MAK values (maximum workplace concentration), which have been derived considering toxicological aspects. From the toxicological point of view the dermal exposure of azo dyes, which can be metabolized to carcinogenic AA, should be considered similarly to the exposure of those AA.

8. REFERENCES

- 1. IARC (International Agency for Research on Cancer): Some industrial chemicals. Monographs on the evaluation of carcinogenic risks to humans. *IARC Scientific Press*, Lyon, publication no. 77 (2000)
- 2. I. Jakasa, N. Mohammadi, J. Krüse, S. Kezic: Percutaneous absorption of neat and aqueous solutions of 2-butoxyethanol in volunteers. *Int Arch Occup Environ Health* 77, 79-84 (2004)
- 3. M. Bader, S.A. Keener, R. Wrbitzky: Dermal absorption and urinary elimination of N-methyl-2-pyrrolidone. *Int Arch Occup Environ Health* 78, 673-676 (2005)
- 4. G. Korinth, K.H. Schaller, M. Bader, R. Bartsch, T. Göen, B. Rossbach, H. Drexler: Comparison of experimentally determined and mathematically predicted percutaneous penetration rates of chemicals. *Arch Toxicol* 86, 423-430 (2012)
- 5. T. Wellner, L. Lüersen, K.H. Schaller, J. Angerer, H. Drexler, G. Korinth: Percutaneous absorption of aromatic amines a contribution for human health risk assessment. *Food Chem Toxicol* 46, 1960-1968 (2008)
- 6. IFA (Institute for Occupational Safety and Health of the German Social Accident Insurance in Sankt Augustin/Germany): GESTIS-database on hazardous substances (2012) http://www.dguv.de/ifa/en/gestis/stoffdb/index.jsp
- 7. IPCS INCHEM (International Programme on Chemical Safety) (2012) http://www.inchem.org/
- 8. NIOSH (National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health): The registry of toxic effects of chemical substances. US Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, Centers for Disease Control, National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, DHHS (NIOSH), Cincinnati (2012) http://www.cdc.gov/niosh/rtecs/
- 9. P.V. Shah, F.E. Guthrie: Dermal absorption of benzidine derivatives in rats. *Bull Environ Contam Toxicol* 31, 73-78 (1983)
- 10. S.H. Kenyon, J. Bhattacharyya, C.J. Benson, P.L. Carmichael: Percutaneous penetration and genotoxicity of 4,4'-methylenedianiline through rat and human skin *in vitro*. *Toxicology* 196, 65-75 (2004)

- 11. ACGIH (American Conference of Governmental Industrial Hygienists): Threshold limit values for chemical substances and physical agents & biological exposure indices. ACGIH worldwide, Cincinnati (2011)
- 12. DFG (Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft): List of MAK and BAT values 2012. Wiley-VCH, Weinheim, report no. 48, pp. 18-161 (2012) http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/book/10.1002/97835276660 34
- 13. European Commission. The Scientific Committee on Occupational Exposure Limits (SCOEL): SCOEL Recommendations. Brussels, May 2011.
- 14. Nordic Expert Group for Criteria Documentation of Health Risks from Chemicals (NEG): Publications 2012. Stockholm (2012) http://www.av.se/arkiv/neg/publications
- 15. Health Council of the Netherlands. Dutch Expert Committee on Occupational Safety of the Health Council. Healthy working conditions. The Hague, Netherlands (2012) http://www.gezondheidsraad.nl/en/publications/healthy-working-conditions/results
- 16. S.A. Hotchkiss, P. Hewitt, J. Caldwell: Percutaneous absorption of 4,4'-methylene-bis(2-chloroaniline) and 4,4'-methylenedianiline through rat and human skin *in vitro*. *Toxicol In vitro* 7, 141-148 (1993)
- 17. S.W. Collier, J.E. Storm, R.L. Bronaugh: Reduction of azo dyes during *in vitro* percutaneous absorption. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* 118, 73-79 (1993)
- 18. P.M. Elias: Epidermal lipids, barrier function, and desquamation. *J Invest Dermatol* 80 Suppl, 44-49 (1983)
- 19. WHO (World Health Organization): Environmental health criteria 235; Dermal absorption. Hannover (2006) http://www.who.int/ipcs/publications/ehc/ehc235.pdf
- 20. M. de Jager, W. Groenink, R. Bielsa i Guivernau, E. Andersson, N. Angelova, M. Ponec, J. Bouwstra: A novel *in vitro* percutaneous penetration model: evaluation of barrier properties with p-aminobenzoic acid and two of its derivatives. *Pharm Res* 23, 951-960 (2006)
- 21. H. Drexler, T. Göen, J. Angerer: Carbon disulphide. II. Investigations on the uptake of CS_2 and the excretion of its metabolite 2-thiothiazolidine-4-carboxylic acid after occupational exposure. *Int Arch Occup Environ Health* 67, 5-10 (1995)
- 22. J.P. Payan, I. Boudry, D. Beydon, J.P. Fabry, M.C. Grandclaude, E. Ferrari, J.C. André: Toxicokinetics and metabolism of N-[(14)C]N-methyl-2-pyrrolidone in male Sprague-Dawley rats: *in vivo* and *in vitro* percutaneous absorption. *Drug Metab Dispos* 31, 659-669 (2003)
- 23. OECD (Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development): Guidance document for the conduct of skin absorption studies. *OECD environmental health and safety*

- publications, Testing and Assessment Number 28, Paris (2004)
- 24. J.J. van de Sandt, J.A. van Burgsteden, S. Cage, P.L. Carmichael, I. Dick, S. Kenyon, G. Korinth, F. Larese, J.C. Limasset, W.J. Maas, L. Montomoli, J.B. Nielsen, J.P. Payan, E. Robinson, P. Sartorelli, K.H. Schaller, S.C. Wilkinson, F.M. Williams: *In vitro* predictions of skin absorption of caffeine, testosterone, and benzoic acid: a multi-centre comparison study. *Regul Toxicol Pharmacol* 39, 271-281 (2004)
- 25. R.L. Bronaugh, H.I. Maibach: Percutaneous absorption of nitroaromatic compounds: *in vivo* and *in vitro* studies in the human and monkey. *J Invest Dermatol* 84, 180-183 (1985)
- 26. S.A. Hotchkiss, P. Hewitt, J. Caldwell, W.L. Chen, R.R. Rowe: Percutaneous absorption of nicotinic acid, phenol, benzoic acid and triclopyr butoxyethyl ester through rat and human skin *in vitro*: further validation of an *in vitro* model by comparison with *in vivo* data. *Food Chem Toxicol* 30, 891-899 (1992)
- 27. J.J. van de Sandt, W.J. Meuling, G.R. Elliott, N.H. Cnubben, B.C. Hakkert: Comparative *in vitro-in vivo* percutaneous absorption of the pesticide propoxur. *Toxicol Sci* 58, 15-22 (2000)
- 28. N.H. Cnubben, G.R. Elliott, B.C. Hakkert, W.J. Meuling, J.J. van de Sandt: Comparative *in vitro-in vivo* percutaneous penetration of the fungicide orthophenylphenol. *Regul Toxicol Pharmacol* 35, 198-208 (2002)
- 29. P.A. Lehman, S.G. Raney, T.J. Franz: Percutaneous absorption in man: *in vitro-in vivo* correlation. *Skin Pharmacol Physiol* 24, 224-230 (2011)
- 30. G. Korinth, I. Jakasa, T. Wellner, S. Kezic, J. Krüse, K.H. Schaller: Percutaneous absorption and metabolism of 2-butoxyethanol in human volunteers: a microdialysis study. *Toxicol Lett* 170, 97-103 (2007)
- 31. G. Korinth: Vergleich von *In vivo* und *In vitro*-Methoden zur Erfassung der dermalen Penetration von Arbeitsstoffen durch exzidierte Humanhaut und bei der Ratte am Beispiel von 2-Butoxyethanol und Toluol. Dissertation (in German), University Erlangen-Nuremberg, Germany (2008)
- 32. R.E. Baynes, C. Brownie, H. Freeman, J.E. Riviere: *In vitro* percutaneous absorption of benzidine in complex mechanistically defined chemical mixtures. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* 141, 497-506 (1996)
- 33. EPA (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency): Dermal exposure assessment: principles and applications. Exposure assessment group, office of health and environmental assessment, Washington D.C., (1992) http://rais.ornl.gov/documents/DERM EXP.PDF

- 34. J.J. Hostýnek: Exposure to fragrances: their absorption and potential toxicity. In: Dermal absorption and toxicity assessment. Eds: Roberts M.S., Walters K.A., *Marcel Dekker*, NY/Basel, pp. 601-623 (1998)
- 35. G. Korinth, K.H. Schaller, H. Drexler: Is the permeability coefficient Kp a reliable tool in percutaneous absorption studies? *Arch Toxicol* 79, 155-159 (2005)
- 36. G.L. Flynn: Physicochemical determinants of skin absorption. In: Principles of route-to-route extrapolation for risk assessment. Eds: Gerrity T.R., Henry C.J., *Elsevier*, NY, pp. 93-127 (1990)
- 37. R.O. Potts, R.H. Guy: Predicting skin permeability. *Pharm Res* 9, 663-669 (1992)
- 38. J.M. Jungersted, L.I. Hellgren, G.B. Jemec, T. Agner: Lipids and skin barrier function a clinical perspective. *Contact Dermatitis* 58, 255-262 (2008)
- 39. J.J. Yourick, R.L. Bronaugh: Percutaneous penetration and metabolism of 2-nitro-p-phenylenediamine in human and fuzzy rat skin. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* 166, 13-23 (2000)
- 40. G. Korinth, L. Lüersen, K.H. Schaller, J. Angerer, H. Drexler: Enhancement of percutaneous penetration of aniline and o-toluidine *in vitro* using skin barrier creams. *Toxicol In vitro* 22, 812-818 (2008)
- 41. T. Dutkiewicz, H. Tyras: Skin absorption of toluene, styrene, and xylene by man. *Br J Ind Med* 25, 243 (1968)
- 42. S. Küchler, M.R. Radowski, T. Blaschke, M. Dathe, J. Plendl, R. Haag, M. Schäfer-Korting, K.D. Kramer: Nanoparticles for skin penetration enhancement--a comparison of a dendritic core-multishell-nanotransporter and solid lipid nanoparticles. *Eur J Pharm Biopharm* 71, 243-250 (2009)
- 43. S. Küchler, M. Abdel-Mottaleb, A. Lamprecht, M.R. Radowski, R. Haag, M. Schäfer-Korting: Influence of nanocarrier type and size on skin delivery of hydrophilic agents. *Int J Pharm* 377, 169-172 (2009)
- 44. G. Smith, S.H. Ibbotson, M.M. Comrie, R.S. Dawe, A. Bryden, J. Ferguson, C.R. Wolf: Regulation of cutaneous drug-metabolizing enzymes and cytoprotective gene expression by topical drugs in human skin *in vivo*. *Br J Dermatol* 155, 275-281 (2006)
- 45. F. Afaq, M.A. Zaid, E. Pelle, N. Khan, D.N. Syed, M.S. Matsui, D. Maes, H. Mukhtar: Aryl hydrocarbon receptor is an ozone sensor in human skin. *J Invest Dermatol* 129, 2396-2403 (2009)
- 46. J.M. Baron, T. Wiederholt, R. Heise, H.F. Merk, D.R. Bickers: Expression and function of cytochrome P450-dependent enzymes in human skin cells. *Curr Med Chem* 15, 2258-2264 (2008)

- 47. T. Hu, R.E. Bailey, S.W. Morrall, M.J. Aardema, L.A. Stanley, J.A. Skare: Dermal penetration and metabolism of p-aminophenol and p-phenylenediamine: application of the EpiDerm human reconstructed epidermis model. *Toxicol Lett* 188, 119-129 (2009)
- 48. G.J. Nohynek, J.A. Skare, W.J. Meuling, D.W. Hein, A.T. de Bie, H. Toutain: Urinary acetylated metabolites and N-acetyltransferase-2 genotype in human subjects treated with a para-phenylenediamine-containing oxidative hair dye. *Food Chem Toxicol* 42, 1885-1891 (2004)
- 49. C. Jewell, J. Heylings, H.M. Clowes, F.M. Williams: Percutaneous absorption and metabolism of dinitrochlorobenzene *in vitro*. *Arch Toxicol* 74, 356-365 (2000)
- 50. J. Kao, F.K. Patterson, J. Hall: Skin penetration and metabolism of topically applied chemicals in six mammalian species, including man: an *in vitro* study with benzo[a]pyrene and testosterone. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* 81, 502-516 (1985)
- 51. IARC (International Agency for Research on Cancer): Some aromatic amines, organic dyes, and related exposures. *IARC*, Lyon, volume 99 (2010)
- 52. F.D. Aldrich, W.F. Jr. Busby, J.G. Fox: Excretion of radioactivity from rats and rabbits following cutaneous application of two 14C-labeled azo dyes. *J Toxicol Environ Health* 18, 347-355 (1986)
- 53. T. Platzek, C. Lang, G. Grohmann, U.S. Gi, W. Baltes: Formation of a carcinogenic aromatic amine from an azo dye by human skin bacteria *in vitro*. *Hum Exp Toxicol* 18, 552-559 (1999)
- 54. R. Stahlmann, M. Wegner, K. Riecke, M. Kruse, T. Platzek: Sensitising potential of four textile dyes and some of their metabolites in a modified local lymph node assay. *Toxicology* 219, 113-123 (2006)
- 55. A. Sonnenburg, V. Ahuja, M. Schreiner, T. Platzek, R. Stahlmann: Assessment of the sensitizing potential of textile disperse dyes and some of their metabolites by the loose-fit coculture-based sensitization assay (LCSA). *Arch Toxicol* 86, 733-740 (2012)
- 56. R.L. Stingley, W. Zou, T.M. Heinze, H. Chen, C.E. Cerniglia: Metabolism of azo dyes by human skin microbiota. *J Med Microbiol* 59, 108-114 (2010)
- 57. F. Larese Filon, G. Maina, G. Adami, M. Venier, N. Coceani, R. Bussani, M. Massiccio, P. Barbieri, P. Spinelli: *In vitro* percutaneous absorption of cobalt. *Int Arch Occup Environ Health* 77, 85-89 (2004)
- 58. G. Korinth, T. Weiss, S. Penkert, K.H. Schaller, J. Angerer, H. Drexler: Percutaneous absorption of

- aromatic amines in rubber industry workers: impact of impaired skin and skin barrier creams. *Occup Environ Med* 64, 366-372 (2007)
- 59. E. Vo, S.P. Berardinelli, R.C. Hall, N. El Ayouby: A quantitative study of aromatic amine permeation through protective gloves using amine adsorptive pads. *AIHAJ* 61, 837-841 (2000)
- 60. T.S. Poet, J.N. McDougal: Skin absorption and human risk assessment. *Chem Biol Interact* 140, 19-34 (2002)
- 61. F.M. Williams: *In vitro* studies how good are they at replacing *in vivo* studies for measurement of skin absorption? *Environ Toxicol Pharmacol* 21, 199-203 (2006)
- 62. T. Weiss, T. Brüning, H.M. Bolt: Dephenylation of the rubber chemical N-phenyl-2-naphthylamine to carcinogenic 2-naphthylamine: a classical problem revisited. *Crit Rev Toxicol* 37, 553-566 (2007)
- 63. H. Drexler: Assignment of skin notation for MAK values and its legal consequences in Germany. *Int Arch Occup Environ Health* 71, 503-505 (1998)
- 64. J.B. Nielsen, P. Grandjean: Criteria for skin notation in different countries. *Am J Ind Med* 45, 275-280 (2004)
- 65. R. Oppl, F. Kalberlah, P.G. Evans, J.J. van Hemmen: A toolkit for dermal risk assessment and management: an overview. *Ann Occup Hyg* 47, 629-640 (2003)
- 66. OECD (Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development): Series on testing and assessment no. XX and series on pesticides no. XX. Draft guidance notes for the estimation of dermal absorption values. Paris (2008)
- 67. R.H. Guy, R.O. Potts: Penetration of industrial chemicals across the skin: a predictive model. *Am J Ind Med* 23, 711-719 (1993)
- 68. F. Levillain, V. Charasson, L. el Marbouh, J. Poëy, G. Houin: *In vitro* study of the percutaneous absorption of four aromatic amines using hairless rat skin. *Arzneimittelforschung* 48, 948-951 (1998)
- 69. M. Bader, W. Rosenberger, T. Rebe, S.A. Keener, T.H. Brock, H.J. Hemmerling, R. Wrbitzky: Ambient monitoring and biomonitoring of workers exposed to N-methyl-2-pyrrolidone in an industrial facility. *Int Arch Occup Environ Health* 79, 357-364 (2006)
- Abbreviations: AA: aromatic amines; MDA: 4,4'-Methylenedianiline; MOCA: 4,4'-Methylene-bis(2-chloroaniline); PBNA: N-Phenyl-2-naphthylamine; TLV-TWA: occupational air threshold limit value time weighted average

Skin absorption of aromatic amines

Key Words Aromatic amines; Azo dyes; Percutaneous absorption; Dermal metabolism; Biological monitoring; Risk assessment, Review

Send correspondence to: Gintautas Korinth, Institute and Out-Patient Clinic of Occupational, Social and Environmental Medicine, University Erlangen-Nuremberg, Schillerstrasse 25/29, 91054 Erlangen, Germany, Tel: 49-9131-8526102, Fax: 49-9131-8522317, E-mail: Gintautas.Korinth@ipasum.unierlangen.de